THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 21 2015

APPEAL FROM CALHOUN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014- 002131

Mikal D. Mahdi, #5238

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Seth C. Farber (*pro hac vice*)
200 Park Avenue
Winston & Strawn LLP
New York, New York 11006
(212) 294-4611

Brandon W. Duke (*pro hac vice*)
1111 Louisiana St.
Winston & Strawn LLP
Houston, TX 77002
(713) 651-2636

Other Counsel of Record:
Anthony Mabry
Assistant Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3665

Teresa L. Norris

QUESTION PRESENTED

Was Petitioner denied the effective assistance of counsel at his capital sentencing proceeding by trial counsel's decision to rely entirely on a single expert witness to present mitigating evidence about petitioner's background instead of calling available lay witnesses who could have provided detailed and specific testimony in mitigation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 21, 2004, Petitioner, Mikal D. Mahdi, was arrested in Florida on a fugitive from justice warrant. Mahdi waived extradition, was returned to South Carolina, and was charged with the murder of James E. Myers, grand larceny, and burglary. On August 23, 2004, Mahdi was indicted by the Calhoun County grand jury for murder, second degree burglary, and grand larceny. The State sought the death penalty, and this Court assigned the case to the Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge.

On November 30, 2006, Mahdi pleaded guilty to all charges. From December 4-6, 2006, Judge Newman conducted a sentencing hearing without a jury. Following that hearing, on December 8, 2006, Judge Newman issued a written sentencing order and sentenced Mahdi to death for murder, 15 years for burglary, and 10 years for grand larceny. On direct appeal, his sentence was affirmed by this Court on June 15, 2009. *Mahdi v. State*, 383 S.C. 135, 678 S.E.2d 807 (2009); A000193.

On June 23, 2009, Mahdi filed a Motion for Stay of Execution before this Court to pursue potential post-conviction relief ("PCR") remedies. On July 23, 2009, this Court issued an Order granting the stay and assigned the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge, to hear Mahdi's PCR application.

Mahdi filed a *pro se* PCR application on August 18, 2009, prior to the appointment of PCR counsel. The PCR application was amended twice with the assistance of counsel, with a Final Application filed on July 29, 2010. (A000231;

A000235.) On March 3, 2011, Mahdi moved to amend the Final Application to add one additional allegation, which Judge Early granted. (A000456.)

In the Final Amended Application, Mahdi alleged six grounds for PCR: 1) his trial counsel failed to object when the judge improperly based Mahdi's death sentence on his decision to invoke his right to a jury trial; 2) his trial counsel failed to adequately advise him of the advantages of jury sentencing; 3) his trial counsel failed to adequately investigate and present mitigation evidence; 4) his counsel failed to assert that his death sentence violates the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution; 5) his sentence violates the Eighth Amendment because he is developmentally disabled; and 6) his counsel failed to assert that South Carolina Code § 16-3-20 is unconstitutional. (A000458.)

An evidentiary hearing was held on March 9 to 11, 2011, and on December 18, 2012, Judge Early issued an Order of Dismissal, filed January 8, 2013, denying and dismissing the allegations of the Final Amended Application with prejudice. (A000010.) On January 28, 2013, Mahdi filed a notice of appeal.

The State subsequently filed a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, Motion to Alter or Amend one of the findings in the Order of Dismissal.¹ (A000786.) Judge Early heard arguments on the State's Rule 59 Motion on February 11, 2013. On August 18, 2014, Judge Early granted the State's Rule 59 Motion and entered an Amended Order of Dismissal, filed August 20, 2014, denying and dismissing the allegations of the Final Application with prejudice (the "Amended Order"). (A000059.) On August 27, 2014, Mahdi filed a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment. (A000257.) Judge Early denied

¹ The State also filed a Motion to Stay the appeal and remand to the circuit court for a ruling on the State's Rule 59(e), SCRPC, Motion. On March 4, 2013, this Court dismissed Mahdi's notice of appeal without prejudice.

Mahdi's Rule 59 Motion on September 9, 2014. (A000192.) On October 8, 2014, the Notice of Appeal was timely filed with this Court. (A000548.)

Mahdi now seeks a writ of certiorari to review the denial of his application for post-conviction relief with respect to the third ground of his application -- the allegation that trial counsel failed to adequately investigate and present mitigation evidence.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Offense

On July 14, 2004, Mahdi, who was living in Virginia, stole a pistol from the home of Amanda Weaver. (Sent. Tr. A003458-3487.) Mahdi then stole a car and drove south towards Florida. On July 15, 2004, in North Carolina, Mahdi robbed a gas station, shooting the store clerk. Mahdi continued south to South Carolina. Mahdi carjacked the car of Corey Pitts at a traffic light on July 17, 2004. After stealing Pitts's car, Mahdi drove to Calhoun County, abandoned the car, and went on foot to the work shed of James E. Myers, a Captain in the Orangeburg Department of Public Safety. On June 18, 2014, when Captain Myers came to his shed, Mahdi shot and killed him. Mahdi then drove Captain Myers' Dodge truck to Satellite Beach, Florida, where he was arrested.

B. The Guilty Plea

Mahdi was arrested on July 21, 2004, in Florida. He was extradited to South Carolina and charged with Myers's murder, grand larceny of Myers's truck, and burglarizing Myers's work shed. On November 26, 2006, jury selection began before Judge Newman in the Calhoun Court of General Sessions. After jury selection was completed on November 29, 2006, Mahdi waived his right to a jury trial and changed his plea to guilty. (Am. Op. A000060; Sent. Tr. A003218-44.) On November 30, 2006, Mahdi entered his guilty plea to murder, grand larceny over \$5,000, and burglary in the

second degree. (*Id.*) Judge Newman found Mahdi competent to plead guilty, and accepted Mahdi's guilty pleas as to all charges. (*Id.*)

C. The Sentencing Proceeding

Following Mahdi's guilty plea, Judge Newman conducted a three-day sentencing proceeding that commenced on December 4, 2006. The State presented testimony from 28 witnesses: fact witnesses to the crimes to which Mahdi pled guilty, witnesses who testified to Mahdi's character and prior bad acts, and victim impact witnesses testifying to the loss of James Myers.

Mahdi's counsel called only two witnesses. James Aiken, an expert witness, testified to Mahdi's adaptability to prison. (Sent. Tr. A003580-614.) Marjorie Hammock, a clinical social worker, presented a "biopsychosocial assessment" of Mahdi. (Sent. Tr. A003615-39.) Ms. Hammock testified that she had interviewed Mahdi's paternal grandmother, Rose Burwell; his paternal uncles, Carson and Nathan Burwell; his aunt-in law, Lawanda Burwell; his mother, Vera Mahdi; and his maternal aunts, Corlis Ardis and Sophia Gee. (Sent. Tr. A003622-23.) Hammock added that she had also reviewed a synopsis of his school records and a report on his mental health from his voluntary admission to a hospital in Baltimore. (Sent. Tr. A003623.) Based on this information, Ms. Hammock testified generally about Mahdi's experiences in school, where he was a below-average student and had low self-esteem, and his upbringing generally. Her testimony on these subjects spanned just 24 pages in the trial transcript.

Judge Newman read his sentencing order into the record on December 8, 2014. Judge Newman found that the state had proved two statutory aggravating factors: 1) that the murder was committed during the commission of grand larceny; and 2) that the murder was committed during the commission of a burglary. (Sent. Or. A008588.)

Judge Newman also found that the State had failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mahdi committed the murder during an armed robbery and that Captain Myers was killed because he was a police officer. (Sent. Or. A008558-9)

Judge Newman further found that Mahdi had committed prior and subsequent bad acts, which showed his bad character, including housebreaking, stealing guns, robbery, selling crack cocaine, vandalism, and wounding of another human being. He concluded that the state had established Mahdi's bad character and propensities by clear and convincing evidence, but did not consider the evidence as proof of any aggravating circumstance. (Sent. Or. A008559-61.)

Judge Newman considered the statutory mitigating circumstance of Mahdi's youth, but did not afford it great weight, noting that Mahdi "began his criminal career at an early age," was experienced in the world of crime, and, therefore, was "well aware of the severity of his crimes and the possible consequences." (Sent. Or. A008561-2.)

Judge Newman also considered non-statutory mitigating circumstances. Judge Newman first addressed "what the defense contends to be the Defendant's turbulent and transient childhood and upbringing." (Sent. Or. A008562.) In doing so, he noted that there was no testimony from his clinical social worker that he had suffered any physical or sexual abuse. (*Id.*)

He then noted that Virginia Department of Juvenile Justice Records indicated that Mahdi's father and other family members "continually expressed great care and concern for his well-being." (*Id.*) He concluded "while Mr. Mahdi's family life may have been less than ideal particularly without the presence of a loving and caring mother, I do not believe that his difficult childhood and family life contributed in any significant way to

his senseless criminal activities.” (*Id.*)

Judge Newman also considered the argument that Mahdi would be adaptable to prison life as testified to by James Aiken, the prison adaptability expert. Judge Newman observed that Mahdi had been disruptive while incarcerated, had threatened to kill prison employees, had maintained weapons and other contraband in his cell and had smuggled a homemade hand cuff key into the courthouse. As a result, Judge Newman concluded that Mahdi was not sufficiently adaptable to prison life for this nonstatutory mitigating circumstance to be given any significant weight. (Sent. Or. A008562-3.) Finally, Judge Newman declined to give significant weight to Mahdi’s decision to plead guilty. (Sent. Or. A008563.) Judge Newman explained that Mahdi had no remorse for his actions, as evidenced by the fact that Mahdi had smuggled the key into the courthouse in an attempt to escape. (Sent. Or. A008563.)

Stating that his judicial commitment “has been to temper justice with mercy and to seek to find the humanity in every defendant that I sentence,” Judge Newman nonetheless sentenced Mahdi to death, finding that a “sense of humanity seems not to exist” in Mahdi. (Sent. Or. A008565.)

D. The PCR Proceedings

Following the filing of Mahdi’s Final Amended Application, a PCR hearing was held on March 9 to 11, 2011. At the PCR hearing, Mahdi presented evidence from family members, members of the community and additional experts, humanizing Mahdi in a way that his sentencing proceeding did not.

1. Mahdi’s Family and Upbringing

At his sentencing, not a single member of Mahdi’s family testified on his behalf, and only his grandmother Nancy Burwell was in the courtroom. (PCR Tr. A001251.) At

his PCR hearing, Mahdi presented testimony from his uncle, Carson Burwell; his aunt, Rose Marie Gupton; his aunt, Sophia Gee; and his paternal aunt, Lawanda Burwell. Far from the “less than ideal” upbringing described by Judge Newman, Mahdi’s family described the abusive, troubled relationship into which Mahdi was born and the fractured, abusive upbringing that resulted.

Mahdi’s mother, Vera, married his father Shareef (who was 23 years old) at the age of 14. (PCR Tr. A001322.) Shareef was an angry, radical person, according to his brother Carson. (PCR Tr. A001273.) He was abusive towards Mahdi’s mother, and at one point, Mahdi and his brother Saleem witnessed their father pull their mother by the hair and slam her into a glass table. (PCR Tr. A004190.) When Mahdi pled with him to stop, his father told him to “shut up” and accused him of being “soft.” (*Id.*)

As Mahdi’s maternal aunts Sophia and Rose explained, Vera was forced to flee the abusive relationship when Mahdi was only four or five years old. (PCR Tr. A003711-2.) She told Shareef that she was taking Mahdi and his brother Saleem. Shareef told her that he would kill Mahdi and Saleem before letting her flee with them. (PCR Tr. A001326, A001335-6.) Vera fled without the children, who were later told that she fled because she did not love them. (PCR Tr. A001337.) Shareef did not allow Vera to visit her sons and eventually told them that Vera was dead. (PCR Tr. A001339)

Having forced his wife to flee, Shareef became a single parent for his two sons, a job for which he was entirely unequipped. As his brother Carson testified, Shareef was depressed, constantly moving, and unable to keep a job. (PCR Tr. A001279.) He left the boys completely unsupervised, and Mahdi was forced to care for himself. (*Id.*) Shareef exhibited no regard for his sons’ stability, and moved them constantly from school to

school. Mahdi attended five schools during first and second grade and was unable to make any progress academically or socially. (Mikhal Madhi Social Assessment, A004193.)

Because Shareef could not care for his sons, Saleem went to Texas to live with relatives, and Mahdi was sent to Baltimore to live with his uncle and aunt, Carson and Lawanda Burwell, when he was eight. (PCR Tr. A001282.) While in school in Baltimore, Mahdi exhibited suicidal ideas, for which school officials recommended psychiatric treatment that he did not receive. (PCR Tr. A001286; Carson Burwell Ex. 9, A004159.) Things got worse from there.

The summer after Mahdi left to live with Carson and Lawanda in Baltimore, he returned to Virginia to spend a month with his father. He learned that his mother was in fact alive. His father, Shareef, used Mahdi and his brother as bait to see Vera. When Shareef saw Vera, he immediately started to abuse and threaten her in front of his sons. Shareef then took Vera to the woods and assaulted her. She was only able to escape Shareef with outside intervention. (PCR Tr. A001441, Woodley Aff. at ¶7, A004150.) At the age of nine, after staying with his father for a month, Mahdi returned to live with Lawanda and Carson. Mahdi again started making suicidal statements and was admitted into a psychiatric hospital, where he told a psychiatrist that he wanted to jump off a bridge. (Mikal Mahdi Social History Assessment, A004197.)

From there, Mahdi spiraled downhill. At 14, he was arrested for grand larceny. He spent 86% of his life from ages 14 to 21 in jail. (PCR Tr. A001608.)

2. Community Members

At the PCR hearing, Mahdi also presented the testimony of a number of non-family, lay witnesses. Those witnesses included Mahdi's teachers (Myra Harris and Carol

Wilson), his elementary school principal Dora Wynn (by affidavit) and various community members, including George Smith and Sharon Pond. All had been available to testify at sentencing but were never interviewed by trial counsel. Mahdi also offered testimony by affidavit from Sheriff James Woodley, a witness for the State at the sentencing hearing who, like the other community member witnesses, was never interviewed by trial counsel. These witnesses provided detailed testimony about Mahdi's educational potential and how Mahdi's father quashed that potential. In addition, these lay witnesses offered specific examples of crazed and violently abusive behavior by Mahdi's father. That testimony established that Shareef Mahdi had a pathological hatred of white people that affected his behavior generally and his supervision of Mikal Mahdi, in particular. The testimony also revealed the violent abuse that Mikal Mahdi witnessed, including his father's attempt to murder his mother in front of him.

3. The PCR Decision

With respect to Mahdi's allegation that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present testimony from family and community members, Judge Early found that counsels' decision not to present such testimony was neither deficient nor prejudicial because "basically the same information" was introduced through the defense expert, Ms. Hammock, and her exhibits. (PCR Tr. A001295, A001351-53.) Accordingly, Judge Early denied relief.

ARGUMENT

The State's evidence at sentencing focused on the lurid facts of Mahdi's crimes, their effects on the victim and the victim's family, and Mahdi's apparent lack of remorse and misconduct while incarcerated. Defense counsel at trial had the opportunity to present a completely different picture of Mahdi but failed to do so. As the PCR hearing

demonstrated, there were available witnesses who could have offered compelling, first-person testimony of the potential that Mikal Mahdi had as a young boy and how that potential was quashed and twisted by his deranged and abusive father. Trial counsel did not even interview non-family members as witnesses; as a result, they missed the opportunity to provide evidence from, among others, Mahdi's teachers, who could have explained the heartbreaking details of his childhood, and other community members, who could have testified about his father's violence. Instead, trial counsel relied entirely on a summary expert witness to present Mahdi's social history. That witness (Marjorie Hammock, a social worker) offered only vague conclusions and none of the rich detail of first-hand observations that would have made an impact on the sentencing judge. The sterile, two-page timeline that she submitted (A007543) was no substitute for such testimony.

In short, trial counsel was deficient for failing adequately to investigate an entire category of witnesses (non-family members) and failing to present the mitigating testimony that several of them would have offered. The PCR record established that these witnesses were available and that there were no strategic reasons for not calling them. Moreover, the failure to present this testimony was prejudicial to Mahdi because its absence meant that a powerful mitigating factor was inadequately presented. Had this evidence been before the sentencing judge – who found no mitigating factors worth any significant weight and who sought “to find the humanity in every defendant” but concluded that “sense of humanity seems not [to] exist in Mikal Deen Mahdi,” (Sent. Or. A008565) – there is a reasonable probability that the sentencing verdict would have been different. Accordingly, the PCR Court erred in denying Mahdi's claim for relief for

ineffective assistance of counsel.

A. Trial Counsel Were Ineffective Because of Their Failure to Develop and Present Mitigating Evidence

In reviewing the Circuit Court's findings, this Court must reverse the PCR judge's decision when there is no evidence of probative value supporting it. *Palacio v. State*, 333 S.C. 506, 512, 511 S.E.2d 62, 65 (1999); *see also Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). The Court must also reverse the PCR judge's decision when it is controlled by an error of law. *Pierce v. State*, 338 S.C. 139, 145, 526 S.E.2d 222, 225 (2000).

The test for a Sixth Amendment claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is "whether counsels' conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that one cannot rely upon the trial as having produced a just result." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). The *Strickland* standard is satisfied if a petitioner establishes both that his attorneys' representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness" measured "under prevailing professional norms," *id.* at 688, and that the petitioner was "prejudiced" by his attorneys' substandard performance, *id.* at 692. The focus is upon "reasonable probability," such that "[t]he result of a proceeding can be rendered unreliable, and hence the proceeding itself unfair, even if the errors of counsel cannot be shown by a preponderance of the evidence to have determined the outcome." *Id.* at 694. *See also Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 537 (2003) (petitioner must show "there is a reasonable probability that at least one juror would have struck a difference balance"); *Council v. State*, 380 S.C. 159, 179 n.7, 670 S.E.2d 356, 366 n.7 (2008) ("We cannot say beyond a reasonable doubt that the undiscovered mitigating evidence, taken as a whole, would not have influenced at least one juror to recommend a life sentence").

1. Trial Counsel's Performance Was Deficient

In the context of a capital sentencing, reasonable representation requires “thoroughly investigating and presenting mitigating evidence.” *Weik v. State*, 409 S.C. 214, 234, 761 S.E.2d 757, 767 (2014). As this Court noted, a proper mitigation investigation must include the defendant’s social history. *Id.* In addition, how that history is presented matters as much as what is presented – a vague or general overview of the defendant’s background that fails to convey the true nature or degree of the mitigating circumstances may be constitutionally ineffective, for that reason alone. *Id.* at 19.

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