STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Appeal from Calhoun County  
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002131

RECEIVED

JUL - 8 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

MIKAL D. MAHDI,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 11973  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-6305

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.  
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit  
P. O. Box 1525

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

## ARGUMENT

**The evidence in the record supports Judge Early's findings of fact and conclusions of law that Mahdi was not entitled to post-conviction relief.**

### *Standard of Review* (Appellate)

“This Court gives great deference to the PCR court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law.” Miller v. State, 379 S.C. 108, 115, 665 S.E.2d 596, 599 (2008). The existence in the appendix of any evidence of probative value is sufficient to uphold the PCR Court’s ruling. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 525 S.E.2d 514 (2000). If matters of credibility are involved, this

Court gives deference to the PCR court's findings because this Court lacks the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses. Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999). This Court will affirm the PCR Court's denial of an application for post-conviction relief if there is any evidence of probative value in the record to support the PCR Court's ruling. Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 144 (2014). This Court will reverse the decision of the PCR Court when it is controlled by an error of law. Id.; Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 726 S.E.2d 1 (2012).

*(The PCR Court)*

In a PCR action, the applicant has the burden of proving his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler, *supra*. The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Butler. An applicant must overcome this presumption to prevail on PCR. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant, such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625, *citing* Strickland.

"Surmounting Strickland's high bar is never an easy task[.]" Premo v. Moore, 131 S.Ct. 733 (2011) *citing* Harrington v. Richter, 131 S.Ct. 770 (2011), *quoting* Padilla v. Kentucky, 130 S.Ct. 1473 (2010). "It is 'all too tempting' to 'second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction

or adverse sentence.” Harrington v. Richter, 131 S.Ct. 770 (2011), *citations omitted*. “The question is whether an attorney’s representation amounted to incompetence under ‘prevailing professional norms,’ not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom.” Id.; Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690.<sup>15</sup>

Mahdi challenges counsel’s performance in the penalty phase before Judge Newman. In the context of sentencing phase issues, the applicant must also prove deficient performance as defined above. Strickland; Harrington.

Mahdi must also prove prejudice. To show prejudice, the applicant must show that “there is a reasonable probability that ... the sentencer—including an appellate court, to the extent it independently reweighs the evidence—would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695; *see also* Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 537; Jones v. State, 332 S.C. 329, 344-45, 504 S.E.2d 822, 829-30 (1998). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Jones, 504 S.E.2d at 823-824.

The United States Supreme Court has made clear the burden is *not on the State* to show the lack of prejudice, but **the burden is on the applicant to show prejudice**. Wong v. Belmontes, 130 S.Ct. 383 (2009), *citing* Strickland. The applicant must prove had counsel acted competently there is a reasonable probability a different sentence would have resulted. Id.; Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 535, 536 (2003); *see also* Terry v. State, 394 S.C. 62, 714 S.E.2d 326 (2011).<sup>16</sup> Therefore, the appropriate standard for prejudice in this case is whether considering the new mitigation evidence presented at PCR, along with the original mitigation evidence, along with the

---

<sup>15</sup> In the context of a guilty plea, the applicant also must establish deficient performance and prejudice. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985). Mahdi does not challenge his guilty pleas on appeal from the denial of PCR. (BOA).

<sup>16</sup> In his petition, Mahdi repeatedly cites prior holdings of the U.S. Supreme Court and this Court that the standard for prejudice in the penalty phase is if one (1) juror might have found the balance of aggravating and mitigating factors favored a life sentence (BOA); however, this is not the proper standard in this case. Mahdi **pled guilty** and was **sentenced by Judge Newman** not a jury of 12 individuals.

evidence in aggravation produced at the sentencing hearing, and the aggravating evidence that would likely come in with the new mitigation evidence, is there a reasonable probability *Judge Newman* would have returned with a different sentence. Sears v. Upton; Wong v. Belmontes. Such a showing “requires a substantial, not just conceivable, likelihood of a different result.” Cullen v. Pinholster, 131 S.Ct. 1388, 1403 (2011), *citing* Harrington, 131 S.Ct. at 791 (2011).

### ***The Lack of Merit of Mahdi’s Petition***

In his final amended Application, Mahdi alleged the following ground:

#### **A. Ground 10(a)/11(a)(iii)**

Counsel failed to adequately investigate, develop, and present mitigation evidence concerning Applicant’s *family, social, institutional, and mental health history*.

(Final Application). In fact, this is the ground Mahdi focused on at the PCR hearing.<sup>17</sup> At the PCR hearing, under this ground, Mahdi raised several different specific allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel:

- a) Counsel should have interviewed and called at sentencing several of Mahdi’s extended family members and also community members to testify to his family, social, scholastic, and mental health history.
- b) Counsel should have presented the testimony Mahdi presented [at PCR] through a different forensic social worker than the one counsel used at sentencing.
- c) Counsel should have introduced testimony from an expert regarding the effect of Mahdi’s life of incarceration on Mahdi.
- d) Counsel failed to adequately investigate, develop, and present evidence concerning his mental health history or mentality; specifically, counsel should have discovered and presented the testimony Mahdi presented through Drs. Schwartz-Watts and Myers [at PCR], and counsel failed to provide certain records to their own psychiatric/psychological experts;
- e) Finally, counsel failed to introduce certain documents and records at sentencing such as his school records, his DJJ records, records from his commitment to the Walter Carter Center at age 9, and his father’s records.

---

<sup>17</sup> As Mahdi admits in his Petition, he has now abandoned all other grounds in his PCR application raised to Judge Early; and, as will be discussed below, he now raises only a subpart of this ground to this Court.

At the PCR hearing before Judge Early, the vast majority of the testimony and evidence in support of these allegations came from *Mahdi's extended family members*,<sup>18</sup> *several PCR experts*,<sup>19</sup> *and records of Mahdi's commitment to the Walter Carter Center, to DJJ, and his school records*.<sup>20</sup> Mahdi has now abandoned all of these witnesses' testimony, the records themselves, and the above claims, except one (1), and only raises *a subpart of that one (1) claim*. Mahdi alleges counsel was ineffective for not calling *community members / school officials* from Mahdi's earlier life.

Mahdi has abandoned the other claims under this Ground because the credible testimony at PCR established (1) Mahdi's immediate and extended family was not cooperative with counsel, except for providing background information, and refused to testify or would say bad things about Mahdi if called to testify; (2) calling the experts Mahdi presented at PCR would have resulted in testimony before Judge Newman that Mahdi was involved in other homicides before the Boggs' and Myers' murders along with a diagnosis of anti-social personality disorder (ASPD);<sup>21</sup> and, (3) introduction of the records would have resulted in the introduction of Mahdi's bad behavior in

---

18 At the PCR hearing, Mahdi called several aunts and 1 uncle to testify, and offered the affidavit of another aunt, on Mahdi's and his family's background. Mahdi called Carson Burwell (a paternal uncle), Rose Gupton (a maternal aunt), Sophie Gee (a maternal aunt), and Lawanda Burwell (a paternal aunt and Carson's wife). Mahdi offered the affidavit of Sandra Burwell (a paternal aunt). Mahdi did not call at PCR his father, mother, or brother. Nor were any affidavits offered by them.

19 Mahdi retained for the purpose of the PCR hearing and called: Dr. Donna Schwartz-Watts, Dr. deRossett Myers, Dr. Craig Haney, and Dr. Nicholas Cooper-Lewter.

20 Mahdi introduced at PCR his records from his commitment to the Walter Carter Center, all of his DJJ records, and his school records.

21 Dr. Donna Schwartz-Watts, a PCR psychiatry expert, testified in forming her opinion she relied on records from Dr. McKee [the trial psychological expert]. (PCR 458-60). She interviewed Mahdi 3 times; however, he did not trust her or provide her much information. (PCR 460, 478). She obtained more information on Mahdi's thought process after he left Virginia prison from Dr. Martin's and Dr. McKee's notes [trial experts]. (PCR 478-80). She admitted Mahdi told Drs. Martin and McKee he had committed another homicide in Virginia. Dr. DeRossett Myers [another PCR expert] stated the Virginia DOC's diagnosis Mahdi had ASPD was justifiable at the time. (PCR 455-56). Dr. Craig Haney [another PCR expert] reviewed Mahdi's DJJ records and his adult prison records. Mahdi had 41 disciplinary violations in DJJ, and Haney admitted Mahdi was diagnosed with intermittent explosive disorder and ASPD in Virginia's DOC.

school,<sup>22</sup> extensive testimony of his disciplinary violations in DJJ,<sup>23</sup> and his horrible behavior in the Carter Center.<sup>24</sup>

---

22 The school records reveal damaging information about Mahdi and his character, even at an early age. Mahdi was referred for special services not because he was mentally retarded, but because of “..behavior problems. He exhibits inappropriate and disruptive behavior.” (**App. 007536**). The same record indicates Mahdi had a negative attitude about being corrected, did not always get along with other children, his behavior with adults was inappropriate at times, and most of his problems seemed to be getting along with people. The records indicate Mahdi had an I.Q. of 118, but had episodic acting-out behavior and an unwillingness to deal with difficult school tasks. (**App. 007533**). The records also indicate Mahdi was referred for special education because of “*behavioral difficulties*; such as leaving his seat inappropriately, *physically and verbally aggressive towards others* at times, talks out of turn, preoccupied, anxious, *easily frustrated or angered, lacks respect for authority*, and daydreams.” (**App. 005498**)(**emphasis added**). A Burk’s Behavior Rating Scale revealed very significant factors for poor impulse control, poor anger control, and excessive resistance. (**App. 007535**). The records also indicate Mahdi’s “intellectual functioning” was “in the high average range.” (**App. 004345**). To have introduced Mahdi’s school records would have introduced bad things about Mahdi to Judge Newman. It would also have introduced that Mahdi’s intellectual functioning was not impaired. Counsel was not deficient in failing to introduce Mahdi’s school records which contained bad things about Mahdi. Counsel artfully introduced through Hammock’s *testimony* and through *exhibits* Mahdi’s problems in school without introducing the bad things he had done while in school. *Wong, supra*.

23 At the sentencing hearing before Judge Newman, the State introduced a minimal amount of Mahdi’s DJJ records. (**See ROA**). Those records document just a few of Mahdi’s disciplinary violations; however they do not document the extensive and aggravated nature of his violations in DJJ. Counsel obtained Mahdi’s DJJ records through the efforts of their mitigation investigator. (**PCR 585**). They did not introduce them because Mahdi had over 40 disciplinary violations in DJJ including assaults on *guards, teachers, and inmates*. (**PCR 684**). He was involved in destroying property multiple times. He led an escape attempt by assaulting a female guard, taking her radio away, and demanding keys from another guard. He also admitted faking a suicide attempt to gain better conditions of confinement.

24 Counsel had possession of these records, and Tarr summarized them for counsel and the experts. (**Resp. Ex. 11; App. 007884, PCR 565-66**). Drs. Martin and McKee also had the actual records. (**PCR 511-12, 553-54**). They reviewed them in conducting their evaluation of Mahdi. (**PCR 511-12, 553-54**). The records contain damaging information about Mahdi. Mahdi was placed in isolation several times at the Carter Center due to his disruptive or inappropriate behavior. Mahdi assaulted other patients, assaulted staff, was verbally threatening or aggressive towards staff, and attempted to escape from the facility. On several occasions, Mahdi threw chairs or tables and attempted to damage property of the hospital. On 1 occasion, Mahdi falsely pulled a fire alarm. He also cursed staff. On another occasion, Mahdi threatened to suffocate a staff member with a pillow. Also, the records detail Mahdi’s making a false claim of child abuse against his aunt Lawanda, a fact Judge Newman was not aware of. The records show the claim of abuse was determined to be unfounded, and Mahdi admitted he only threatened suicide when he didn’t get his way. Lawanda also reported Mahdi only talked about suicide when he didn’t get his way or did something wrong, and Mahdi also admitted threatening suicide as a way of getting attention. These records would have undercut the mitigation value of and brought into question the diagnosis of major depression at the Carter Center testified to before Judge Newman. The records also indicate Mahdi had anti-social behavior and conduct disorder. Counsel was not deficient in

Mahdi now asks this Court to grant certiorari *alleging* Judge Early erred in finding counsel was not deficient in its mitigation investigation and presentation, where Judge Early based his decision **on all of the mitigation evidence Mahdi presented at PCR**, not just the select portion he now raises on appeal, which contained much aggravating evidence that would have come in with the additional mitigation evidence. *See Sears v. Upton, supra.* Mahdi also alleges Judge Early erred in finding he failed to prove prejudice, while only raising a select portion of the mitigation evidence he presented at the PCR hearing and not the entirety of the mitigation evidence he presented which contained much aggravating evidence, **which Judge Early was required to consider** in determining whether Mahdi had shown prejudice. *See Sears; Wong v. Belmontes.*

In his Petition, in order to create a coherent mitigation narrative, Mahdi has also now “cherry picked” from the testimony of extended family members and expert witnesses he called at PCR **but whom he does not now claim on appeal counsel should have called.** Mahdi has done this in an attempt to show deficient performance *and* prejudice under this newly limited ground. **(Petition for Certiorari, pp. 6-8).**<sup>25</sup>

### *Analysis*

This Court has analyzed claims of failure to investigate, discover, and present mitigation evidence under *Strickland*, *Wiggins* and its progeny.<sup>26</sup> To establish deficient performance, a

---

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